#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

:

:

:

:

:

:

:

:

:

:

IN RE: GUARDIANSHIP OF

ESTELLE M. BROWNING,

Incompetent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mrs. Estelle Browning's legal guardian, Doris F. Herbert, her second cousin (R.46), filed a Petit on to Terminate Artificial Life Support, in the form of a gastric feeding tube (R.3-4). The Court notified the State Attorney of the hearing on the Petition (R.15) and also present at the hearing was counsel for the Sunset Point Nursing Home where Mrs. Browning had been cared for since discharge from Mease Hospital on November 21, 1986 (R.114,134), following a stroke which left her paralyzed on the left side. At the time of the hearing, Mrs. Estelle Browning was 88½ years (R.3,46) old and her guardian 80 (R.46).

In addition to the Exhibits introduced into evidence by Petitioner (R.86-391), the Court took judicial notice of the guardianship file number 87-1176-GD Div. 3 (R.66). Said file includes, in addition to items designated part of the record by Appellant, accountings of the estate showing that the guardian continues to live at Mrs. Browning's home (R.42) and maintains it at the expense of the estate, including \$2,745.00 paid on March 12, 1987 for replacement of the air-conditioning, four months after Mrs. Browning's having been placed in the nursing home, plumbing, lawn care, and charitable contributions (Appendix hereto). The Second District granted the State's Motion that the record be supplemented with this judicially noticed file.

- 1 -



The Second District reversed the Circuit Court's denial of the guardian's Petition to Terminate Artificial Life Support and certified the following question as being of great public importance:

> "Whether the guardian of a patient who is incompetent but not in a permanent vegetative state and who suffers from an incurable, but not terminal condition, may exercise the patient's right of self-determination to forego sustenance provided artificially by a nasogastric tube?" 14 FLW at 962.

The Second District entered an Order on Motions for Clarification from both sides and added the requirement that the additional medical opinions be from two "'physicians with specialties relevant to the patient's condition.'" 14 FLW 1122. Additionally, this order clarified that the substituted decision would enjoy the same immunity from civil or criminal review and would satisfy the good faith standard of John F. Kennedy Memorial Hospital v. <u>Bludworth</u>, 452 So.2d 921 (Fla. 1984), if it satisfied the scope of review created in its opinion.

The undersigned Assistant State Attorney has agreed to amicus curiae brief by Society for the Right to Die, Inc. and Concern for Dying, and has no objection to any other amicus curiae brief permitted by the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

- 2 -

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

2.\*

Ļ!

The 2d DCA Opinion recognized that Mrs. Browning is not terminally ill and not in a persistent vegetative state but created the right of a surrogate to make the decision to forego life-supporting procedures for such persons "in all cases of adult incompetency without regard to the patient's precise prognosis or mental status." 14 FLW at 959.

In addition to the facts set forth in the Opinion of the Second District, the State would stress the following.

The treating physician, Dr. Hayward, associated with the nursing facility, did not testify at the Circuit Court hearing held September 30, 1988, but his report of April 11, 1988 was introduced into evidence. A prior nursing facility treating physician, Dr. Abery, did not testify, but his prognosis notes were part of the record.

Dr. Abery's report of January 16, 1987, was that Mrs. Browning's physical condition was stable (R.132). His progress notes, concluding October 17, 1987, include several references to Mrs. Browning appearing more alert and responsive to verbal (sic) (R.138,139).

Dr. Hayward's report of April 11, 1988, introduced without live testimony, included that Mrs. Browning is "alert and

- 3 -

follows people around the room with her eyes. She looks at you when you attempt to talk to her. She appears to understand but does not follow simple orders." (R.134). He described her condition as "medically stable." (R.134). His progress notes, commencing with the termination of those by Dr. Abery, report the patient talking and answering appropriately to simple questions on November 10, 1987 (R.143). On January 7, 1988, he reports her answering simple questions with a nod of the head, but not always correctly (R.144). He reports a case of the flu (R.144-145) and recovery (R.146). On March 27, 1988, Dr. Hayward's report is that Mrs. Browning's eyes are open and alert, follows persons around the room and looks straight at you when talked to (R.146). She makes some effort at speech (R.146). On May 11, 1988, he reports that she is following with the eyes and appears alert (R.147). On June 16, 1988, he reports that she is tolerating the feeding tube well (R.147). On September 6, 1988, his report is that she nods that she can hear him (R.150).

۰, <sup>ر</sup>

Dr. West, a general internist (R.26,38), testified that she had not been the treating physician since Mrs. Browning was discharged from Mease Hospital (R.31), which occurred on November 21, 1986 (R.114,134), and had turned that job over to Dr. Abery (R.35,130), and she believed that Dr. Hayward had since assumed the role of treating physician (R.36). Neither Dr. Hayward nor Dr. Abery testified. Dr. West testified that she saw Mrs.

- 4 -

Browning only twice after that, in March and on September 7th of 1988 between 1:00 and 2:00 p.m. and for approximately twenty (20) minutes each time (R.31,33,36). On the latter occasion, Mrs. Browning was on oxygen and was having labored breathing (R.32). Dr. West's report from the March visit included that "Estelle Browning was able to open her eyes and follow me around the room and did attempt to speak . . . [but her] words could not be understood." R.133). The report also included that: "Clearly, Mrs. Browning is not comatose or brain dead." (R.132).

, '

Registered Nurse Marianne Hurt, charge nurse for the south wing at Sunset Point Nursing Home with  $4\frac{1}{2}$  years seniority (R.49), testified that Mrs. Browning speaks to her on occasion (R.50), as recently as two days before the court hearing (R.510), and this is confirmed in her daily progress notes for April 14, 1988, April 29, 1988, May 6, 1988 (R.277,278), and May 30, 1988 speech usually garbled (R.284), July 13, 1988 - answers "yes" and "no" (R.284), and those of two other nurses who did not testify, E. Plum, for April 14, 1988 (R.277), May 27, 1988 (R.279), June 24, 1988 (R.284), July 29, 1988 - answers "yes, no and fine." (R.288), August 26, 1988 (R.292), September 6, 1988 - trying to talk (R.295), and A. Varz (?) for June 3, 1988 (R.279-280), June 18, 1988 - attempts to talk (R.282). The various attending nurses report a patient who is alert, smiles on occasion, including when an aide's 5-year-old son visits Mrs. Browning

- 5 -

(R.51), talks, and tried to talk, and they often note no distress, although one report is of the patient grumbling when they change her position (R.296). Nurse Hurt reported that Mrs. Browning's weight was up at the time of the court hearing to 111-3/4 lbs. from 110-1/2 lbs. in July (R.52). Mrs. Browning was on oxygen six days the beginning of September, which would have included Dr. West's second visit, but taken off of it at the direction of the attending physician (R.52). Mrs. Browning tells Nurse Hurt "don't do that" on occasion (R.50,56). She can move her left side, but stiffens up when someone touches her (R.51).

ŕ \*

ιť.

At the request of the Second District, the record was supplemented after oral argument by Affidavit of Nurse Hurt as to the more curent weight of **Mrs**. Browning. That weight was 125 lbs.

Dr. Barnhill, a neurologist who interned at Shands Hospital, was with the patient once for 15 to 20 minutes and spent 20 to 30 minutes reviewing her chart (R.105). He concluded that she is not brain dead (R.105). He stated that "death is not imminent" (R.114). "[s]he could easily live another year if maintained in this condition." (R.106). He agreed that attempts to speak would supply some degree of cognizance (R.110). He was hired for the examination and would be billing the Guardian's attorney, Mr. Felos, \$200.00 an hour with three (3) hours invested before his deposition (R.115).

- 6 -

Hearing was held in Circuit Court on June 19, 1989, on the State's Motion and the Circuit Court appointed a guardian ad litem to report to the Court on the contested circumstances surrounding the substituted decision by the guardian to withdraw Mrs. Browning's nasogastric feeding tube.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mrs. Browning expressed in her "living will" her desire for "the performance of any medical procedure deemed necessary to provide me with comfort care or to alleviate pain." She requested that she not be provided sustenance and hydration by gastric tube or intravenously should she have a terminal condition from which her attending physician has determined both that she cannot recover and that her death is imminent (R.125).

Her attending physician has made neither determination. The reports of three other doctors presented by the Guardian at the hearing do not include that Mrs. Browning is suffering from a terminal condition as defined in Sec. 765.03(6), Fla.Stats. (1987). They all agree that her death is not imminent from her condition of having suffered a stroke two years ago, and that she will probably live at least another year in the continued good care of the Sunset Point Nursing Home.

- 7 -

The Circuit Court denied the guardian's petition to terminate the gastric feeding tube because both Sec. 765.03(3), Fla.Stats., and Mrs. Browning's "living will" did not support the termination.

The Second District's Opinion has created a constitutional right for a guardian to make a substituted decision to refuse medical treatment, including a feeding tube, for nonvegetative, nonterminal patients who cannot make their own decision. Because the Second District's Opinion permits such decision to be made in a "private setting", the State will have little or no opportunity to raise for review the issues of State interest set forth in <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, 379 So.2d 359 (Fla. 19801, adopting <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, 362 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1978), and found applicable by the Second District to the substituted decision as well, unless, as here, the guardian notifies the State in advance. No such requirement was made by the Second District.

The Second District opined that the patient would most likely be in a nursing or hospital setting, with the likelihood of such medical supervision being a check-and-balance on the substituted decision. However, even in the instant case the guardian has chosen to remove the patient from the nursing home to remove the feeding tube and planned to do so without prior notice to the nursing home.

- 8 -

The Second District has allowed parole evidence to supersede a living will or evidence that the living will has been orally revoked. Such evidence from a guardian will not be easily subject to question even if it is wholly untrue and created by a guardian who is not acting in the best interests of the ward.

, \* , \*

> Euthanasia on the facts of an elderly, nonvegetative, nonterminal patient with an incurable condition should not be allowed because it actually constitutes genocide of the elderly. Society owes its nonterminal elderly an unbiased guardian if it is going to allow a substituted decision to forego medical treatment that will result in death. Such a substituted decision should not be permitted at all, because a nonterminal, nonvegetative person does not have the right to forego sustenance to assist suicide is a crime, and it is only a legal fiction that someone else can ever presume to assume that another human being prefers death to life at a specific time.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: "WHETHER THE GUARDIAN OF A PATIENT WHO IS INCOMPETENT BUT NOT IN A PERMANENT VEGETATIVE STATE AND WHO SUFFERS FROM AN INCURABLE, BUT NOT TERMINAL CONDITION, MAY EXERCISE THE PATIENT'S RIGHT OF SELF-DETERMINATION TO FOREGO SUSTENANCE PROVIDED ARTIFICIALLY BY A NASOGASTRIC TUBE?" 14 FLW at 962.

A. A guardian of an incompetent, nonterminal, nonvegetative patient may not exercise the patient's right to forego artificially provided sustenance because the patient has no simi-

- 9 -

lar right. The right of a nonterminal, nonvegetative person to forego life-prolonging procedures has not, before this decision, been extended in Florida to include sustenance. See Corbett v. <u>D'Alessandro</u>, 487 So.2d 1331 (Fla.2d DCA), rev.den. 492 So.2d 1331 (1986). It should not be extended to include sustenance because of the State's interest in preventing suicide. The right of a nonterminal patient to forego life prolonging procedures other than sustenance has not been recognized in Florida in the absence of an additional constitutional right besides the right of privacy. <u>Public Health Trust of Dade County, Florida v. Wons</u>, So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. March 16, 1989) 14 FLW 112, competent patient's right to refuse blood transfusion for religious convictions; cf. <u>John F. Kennedy Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Bludworth</u>, 452 So.2d 921 (Fla. 1984), terminally ill, incompetent patient's right to refuse mechanical ventilator.

Florida law on the right for a competent person to forego "life-prolonging procedures" specifically exempts from that term the provision of sustenance. Sec. 765.02(3), Fla.Stats.

The enrolled legislation amending the act relating to life-prolonging procedures (C.S. for H.B.'s 494 & 1084) will, unless vetoed by the Governor, permit, in Sec. 3 creating 765.075, withholding or withdrawing of sustenance administered through an invasive medical procedure, on specific guidelines set forth in

- 10 -

the amendment. This amendment, to be effective October 1, 1989, if becoming a law, will, however, continue to require that the incompetent be terminal. Life-prolonging procedure will continue to be defined as not including provision of sustenance except for the provisions of Sec. 765.075 (as created in this legislation).

Section 1 of the newly created Sec. 765.075 will, if becoming a law, permit persons to forego sustenance "as a lifeprolonging procedure ... if the attending physician and at least one other [examining] physician ... determine ... that the provision of sustenance is a life-prolonging procedure for that patient ...." In Sec. 3, "Life-prolonging procedure," as used the second time in Section 3, is to be defined as in Section 1 to exclude sustenance as a medical procedure which "[w]hen applied to a patient in a terminal condition, serves only to prolong the process of dying." Otherwise, meaning cannot be given to both the definitional provisions and proposed Sec. 765.075. Otherwise the wording of Sec. 765.075 requiring the physician's finding that "the provision of sustenance is a life-prolonging procedure for that patient" has no meaning, since the provision of sustenance is life-prolonging for all persons.

Therefore, the statutory definition of life-prolonging procedure does not now and would not even if amended effective October 1, 1989, permit withdrawing or withholding sustenance

- 11 -

unless the patient is <u>otherwise</u> terminal. The legislative amendment to Ch. 765 thereby recognizes that the provision of sustenance is always life-prolonging.

For the Second District to find a constitutional right that sustenance could be refused by an incompetent through a surrogate's decision, without the requirement that the patient be otherwise terminal, is to eliminate the State's right to prevent suicide and euthanasia.

B. Even if a nonterminal, nonvegetative but incompetent patient were found on facts of an appropriate case to have the right to refuse artifically provided sustenance as a right of privacy independent of any other constitutional right (cf. <u>Public</u> <u>Health Trust, etc. v. Wons, supra</u>), the right should not be extended to permit a substituted decision because of the State's right to prevent, not just suicide but euthanasia. It can never be established that the incompetent had not had a change of mind, even if it could be sufficiently established that they had previously desired to reject intrusive sustenance provisions.

The substituted judgment of the parents, for their terminally-ill, non-cognitive, ten-month old son with no remaining

- 12 -

independant respiratory function and who had always been in a vegetative coma, to withdraw the mechanical ventilator in <u>In Re</u><u>Barry</u>, 445 So.2d 365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), was approved by the Court only after hearing testimony of three physicians and the parents and obtaining the report of a guardian ad litem which concurred with the conclusions of the three physicians and recommended that the parents' petition be granted. The Court's order granting the petition to withdraw the ventilator specifically required the continuation of nutrition, after finding that the child's right of privacy, based on the "substituted judgment and in the absence of any evidence of intention," (<u>Barry</u> at 368) outweighed the interests of the State. Unlike the child in <u>Barry</u>, Mrs. Browning is not terminal nor brain dead, and her condition and awareness have

improved since she was placed in the nursing home following her stroke.

ISSUE 11: WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT'S PROCEDURE FOR SUBSTITUTED DECISION IS SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT ABUSE EVEN IF THE INCOMPE-TENT, NONTERMINAL, NONVEGETATIVE PATIENT HAS THE RIGHT TO FOREGO SUSTENANCE BASED SOLELY ON THE RIGHT OF PRIVACY.

The possibility of abuse by the surrogate decisionmaker in exercising the Second District's procedure for substituted decision to forego artificial sustenance is a due process violation of the patient's constitutional right to life. Although

- 13 -

admitting that it is within the State's interest to prevent both suicide and that euthanasia is a crime, the Second District's opinion provides that the surrogate's substituted decision be made in a private, informal setting, without requirement of notice to the State or approval by the Court. Although any interested person may seek the Court's intervention, notice may arrive too late for meaningful review. The Second District's creation of the private forum "until we see evidence of some abuse by this informal forum" could mean the death of some incompetent, nonterminal, nonvegetative person who did not wish to die at all but whose guardian assumed, in good faith or otherwise, that the incompetent patient did not want to continue in the condition of incompetence.

The Second District surmised that a guardian could have a conflict of interest and that, for example, "economic considerations, family pressures, or other factors of undue influence could cloud a surrogate's judgment." 14 HLW at 962. The guardian is not, however, required to do more than follow the Second District's procedure, which does not include notice to the court or State, to enjoy complete immunity and good faith protection (Second District's Order on Motions for Clarification, 14 HLW 1122) from both civil and criminal liability.

The Second District's procedure has inadequate safeguards to afford the incompetent, nonterminal patient due process

- 14 -



protection of the constitutional right of life. The guardian need only pay three doctors, from the patient's estate, to provide the requisite information to include at least:

1. A summary of the patient's current medical condition, including the level of mental and physical functioning.

2. The degree of pain and discomfort experienced currently by the patient and expected by the physician in the future.

3. The nature of the medical treatment which is to be withheld or withdrawn, including its benefits, risks, invasiveness, painfulness, and side effects.

4. The prognosis of the patient with and without the medical assistance, including life expectancy, suffering, and the possibility of recovery.

5. Whether the physician believes it is appropriate within medical ethics to remove withdraw the proposed treatment.

The Second District goes on, however, to permit the surrogate decisionmaker to ignore this medical information since the only relevant function of the surrogate is to make the decision that the patient, if competent, would have made.

The surrogate is required to "<u>have</u> adequate, up-to-date evidence" not only of the medical condition but the probability of the patient regaining competency, whether the patient's personal decision is sufficiently clear to permit the substituted judgment, and whether State interests under <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, 362 So.2d 160 (Fla. 4th **DCA** 19781, approved 379 So.2d 359 (19801 outweigh the patient's right to forego medical treatment. 14 FLW at 961. The surrogate need not exercise formal rules of evidence, but must "carefully consider all evidence which is relevant in reaching this decision." Id. The decision must be made on clear and convincing evidence, which may, however, be inconsistent. Browning, 14 FLW at 962.

The surrogate's decision is, however, described as only a "balancing test" and the substituted decision need only tip the scales on "a continuum of conditions between a totally healthy human body and a body upon the brink of death." <u>Browning</u>, 14 FLW at 959. The Second District permits the medical certificates to be based on the same balancing test. With a person's life at stake, the Second District permits imprecision from which a guardian may draw to reach whatever conclusion he or she likes.

> "By utilizing a balancing test, we do not force physicians to make fine distinctions in areas where diagnosis can be difficult, ...

> > . . .

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