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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A competent person possesses, as an integra expression of his or her fundamental freedom of selfdetermination, the common law and constitutional right to refuse unwanted medical treatment. While this right of the individual is not absolute, competing interests of the State generally give way to the patient's much stronger interest in directing the course of his or her own life, especially (as here) where there is no hope of recovery from the patient's affliction.

An incompetent person possesses the same right to refuse medical treatment as does a competent person, because, constitutional rights are not lost or diminished upon a person's incapacity. Therefore, there must be satisfactory procedures to fulfill this right for persons no longer capable of making their own decisions.

Promptness is a vital consideration in any procedure established to fulfill the right, because, too often, the right to refuse treatment is "granted" only after the patient has expired. Most courts have concluded that judicial intervention in decisions of this nature are unduly cumbersome. Thus, the appellate court necessarily and correctly provided for a private decision making process which allows the decision to be made by the persons best suited to make it--the patient's family.

-16-

The appellate court adopts a pure "subjective intent" test, which allows the surrogate to make only that decision which clear and convincing evidence establishes the patient would have made for himself or herself. This contrasts with the "objective" or "best interest" test which allows the surrogate to consider factors other than the patient's expressed intent in reaching the decision. The appellate court's rejection of the objective/best interest test is contrary to the doctrine of "substituted judgment" as expressed in Florida law. The subjective intent test utilized by the appellate court should be modified to include, in certain circumstances, elements of the objective/best interest test.

Mrs. Browning's living will is limited to situations where her condition is terminal. "Terminal condition" is described in her living will (and by statute) as a condition for which there is no recovery and which makes death imminent. The correct definition of "imminent death" is: imminent death without considering the possibilities of extending life with artificial life support. To hold otherwise would render living wills virtually useless. Mrs. Browning's death, within five to nine days without artificial life support, is imminent. Because there is no hope that she can recover, she suffers from a terminal condition as defined in her living will.

-17-

### ARGUMENT

I. THE GUARDIAN OF A PATIENT WHO IS INCOMPETENT BUT NOT IN A PERMANENT VEGETATIVE STATE AND WHO SUFFERS FROM AN INCURABLE, BUT NOT TERMINAL' CONDITION, MAY EXERCISE THE PATIENT'S RIGHT OF SELF-DETERMINATION TO FOREGO SUSTENANCE PROVIDED ARTIFICIALLY BY A NASOGASTRIC TUBE.

This case again presents to the court the difficult, perplexing and (perhaps) unwanted task of deciding the life and death issues which arise as medical technology inevitably advances. While the courts have recognized the limitations on their ability to comprehensively address these issues, they are nevertheless always open to hear these matters, especially against the backdrop of legislative inaction. <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, **379** So.2d **359**, **360-361** (Fla. **1980**).

In arguing the certified question, the State first contends that the patient has no right to forego artificially provided sustenance. If such right does exist, the State then argues that the procedures set forth by the appellate court to effectuate said right are insufficient.

l "Not terminal," as used in the certified question, is descriptive of the fact that Mrs. Browning, with continued tube feeding, may live for an extended period of time. However, as argued infra by Respondent at 43-52, for purposes of construing Mrs. Browning's living will as evidence of her intent, Mrs. Browning has a "terminal" condition because her death, without continued tube feeding, is imminent.

In order to determine if the patient has such a right, an appropriate beginning is to analyze whether the patient, if competent, is entitled to remove the feeding tube. If Mrs. Browning could miraculously become lucid and competent for a few minutes and instruct that the feeding tube be removed, would her choice be legally enforceable? Certainly, if she is not entitled to remove the tube when competent, there would be no greater right to refuse treatment conferred upon incompetency. Conversely, if she has the right to remove the tube while competent, (as is argued <u>infra</u>), this right should not be diminished or restricted upon her incompetency.

Thus, Respondent will, in order, argue that a competent patient possesses this right, such right is not lost or limited upon incompetency, and the procedures established by the appellate court to fulfill said right are sufficient.

> A. A COMPETENT PERSON WHO SUFFERS FROM AN INCURABLE, BUT NOT TERMINAL CONDITION, HAS A RIGHT TO FOREGO SUSTENANCE PROVIDED ARTIFICIALLY BY A NASOGASTRIC TUBE.

The common law has long recognized, as part of the right of self-determination, an individual's right to be free of unwanted bodily interference and intrusion. <u>Union</u> <u>Pacific Railway Co. v. Botsford</u>, 141 U.S. **250**, 251, 11 S.Ct. 1000, 1001, **35** L.Ed. **734**, **737** (1891). As also stated by

-19-

Justice Cardozo:

"Every human being of adult years and sound mind has a right to determine what shall be done with his own body..."

<u>Schloendorff v. Society of New York Hosp.</u>, 211 N.Y. 125, 129-130, 105 N.E. 92, 93 (1914). As a result, a physician who operates upon a patient without his or her consent is guilty of a trespass to the person. <u>Chambers v. Nottebaum</u>, 96 So.2d 716 (Fla. 3d DCA 1957). Thus, a competent adult person generally has the right to decline to have any medical treatment initiated or continued. <u>In re Conroy</u>, 98 N.J. 321, 486 A.2d 1209, 1222 (1985).

Courts, more recently, have held that these rights are also constitutionally emanated:

"(T)he right to refuse or discontinue treatment [is] based upon 'the constitutional right to privacy. ..an expression of the sanctity of individual free choice and self-determination.'" Satz v. Perlmutter,

362 So.2d 160, 162 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), <u>approved</u>, 379 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1980). See also <u>In re Barry</u>, 445 So.2d 365, 370 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>Corbett v. D'Alessandro</u>, 487 So.2d 368, 370 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), <u>review denied</u>, 492 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1986); and, <u>Wons v. Public Health Trust of Dade County</u>, 500 So.2d 679, 87 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), <u>approved</u>, No. 69,970 (Fla. Mar. 16, 1989) (14 F.L.W. 1121. As the Florida Constitution in article I, section 23, specifically guarantees this right of privacy, Floridians have a strong right of privacy much broader in scope than that of the Federal Constitution. <u>Winfield v. Div. of Pari-</u> <u>Mutuel Wagering</u>, 477 So.2d 544, 548 (Fla. 1985).

The right to refuse medical treatment is not absolute, however, and is tempered by the state's: interest in preserving life; need to protect innocent third parties; duty to prevent suicide; and, duty to help maintain the ethical integrity of medical practice. <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, 362 So.2d at 162. Thus, in determining whether to enforce **a** person's decision to refuse treatment, the interests of the state are weighed against the rights of the individual.

The weight given to the state's interest in preserving life is sometimes linked with the individual's prognosis for recovery:

> "[T]here is a substantial distinction in the State's insistence that human life be saved where the affliction is curable, as opposed to the State interest where, as here, the issue is not whether, but when, for how long and at what cost to the individual his life may be briefly extended." <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>,

362 So.2d at 162, quoting from <u>Superintendent of Belchertown</u> <u>v. Saikewicz</u>, 373 Mass. 728, 370 N.E.2d 417 (1977). Where there is no hope of recovery, (as in the case of Mrs. Browning), the issue is not whether a life should be saved, but how long and at what cost the dying process should be prolonged. <u>John F. Kennedy Hosp. v. Bludworth</u>, 452 So.2d 921, 924 (Fla. 1984).

Further, in cases that do not involve protection of

-21-

the actual potential life of someone other than the decision maker, the state's indirect and abstract interest in preserving the life of the competent patient generally gives way to the patient's much stronger personal interest in directing the course of his own life. <u>In re Conroy</u>, 486 A.2d at 1223.

The decision to remove the feeding tube by a competent patient in Mrs. Browning's condition, would be paramount to any state interest in insisting that the patient's life continue. A decision otherwise would not preserve the sanctity of life, but would destroy the "sanctity" of free will and determination, which are fundamental constituents of life. Id. at 1223-1224.

There is no need here to protect innocent third parties, as was the primary issue in <u>Wons</u>. Mrs. Browning has no living relatives other than Mrs. Herbert, her guardian, who has requested the feeding tube be removed.

Also, declining life sustaining medical treatment may not properly be viewed as an attempt to commit suicide. Refusing medical intervention merely allows the disease to take its natural course; if death were eventually to occur, it would be the result, primarily, of the underlying disease, and not the result of a self-inflicted injury. <u>In</u> re Conroy, 486 A.2d at 1224. Disconnecting an artificial

-22-

life prolonging device does not cause death by a "death producing agent," but allows nature to take its course. It is not self-infliction or self-destruction, but self-determination. <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, 362 So.2d at 162; <u>Bouvia v. Superior Court</u>, 179 Cal.App.3d 1127, 225 Cal.Rptr. 297, 306 (1986); <u>In re Conroy</u>, 486 A.2d at 1224.

The State fails to appreciate the distinction between the natural intake of sustenance and tube feeding. Intentionally foregoing the former, (starving oneself to death), may, under some circumstances, constitute suicide. The latter may be properly and legally refused, because it is medical treatment:

> "While no Florida case has previously addressed the termination of artificial feeding devices to sustain life or prolong the moment of death, we see no reason to differentiate between the multitude of artificial devices that may be available to prolong the moment of death." Corbett v.

D'Alessandro, 487 So.2d at 371;

"Although an emotional symbolism attaches itself to artificial feeding, there is no legal difference between a mechanical device that allows for a person to breathe artifically and a mechanical device that artifically allows a person nourishment."

<u>Gray v. Romeo</u>, 697 F.Supp. 580, 587 (D.R.I. 1988). Numerous other jurisdictions recognize that artificial provision of sustenance is medical treatment which can be withheld or withdrawn.<sup>2</sup> Mrs. Browning did not self-induce her horrible condition. She wanted to live under her own power, without being tethered to a machine administering formula through a tube placed into her stomach through her nasal passages and esophagus. There is no question of suicide.

Finally, it is not necessary to deny a right of self-determination to a patient in order to recognize the interest of doctors, hospitals, and medical personnel in attendance on the patient. If the doctrines of informed consent and right of privacy have as their foundations the right to bodily integrity and control of one's fate, then those rights are superior to the institutional considerations. <u>Satz v. Perlmutter</u>, 362 So.2d at 163-164. Recognition of the right to refuse necessary treatment in appropriate circumstances is consistent with existing medical mores. <u>Id</u>. at 163. Medical ethics do not require intervention in disease at all costs. In re Conroy, 486 A.2d at 1224;

<sup>2</sup> Rasmussen v. Fleming, 154 Ariz. 207, 741 P.2d 674 (1987); Bouvia v Super. Ct.. 225 Cal.Rptr. 297 (1986); McConnell, et al. v. Beverly Enterprises, et al., 209 Conn. 692, 553 A.2d 596 (1989); Severns v. Wilmington Medical Center, 425 A.2d 156 (Del. Ch. 1980); In re Hier, 18 Mass.App. 200, 464 N.E.2d 959 (1984); Brophy v. New England Sinai Hosp., 398 Mass. 417, 497 N.E.2d 626 (1986); In re Gardner, 534 A.2d 947 (Me. 1987); In re Conroy, 486 A.2d 1209 (1985); In re Requena, 213 N.J.Super. 475, 517 A.2d 886 (1986); In re Peter, 108 N.J. 365, 529 A.2d 419 (1987); In re Jobes, 108 N.J. 394, 529 A.2d 434 (1987); Workmen's Circle Home v. Fink, 135 Misc.2d 270, 514 N.Y.S.2d 893 (Sup.

<u>Corbett v. D'Alessandro</u>, **487** So,2d at **371** n. **1.** Given the fundamental nature of the constitutional rights involved, protection of the ethical integrity of the medical profession alone could never override those rights. <u>Public</u> <u>Health Trust of Dade County v. Wons</u>, **14** F.L.W. at **115** (Ehrlich, C.J., concurring).

The State cites Chapter **765** to support its claim that competent persons cannot forego artificial sustenance. The Act does not pertain to the rights of competent persons to forego treatment, but to the rights of competent persons to make declarations which will be recognized in the event of their incompetency or inability to give directions. Further, any reliance upon Chapter **765** is misplaced because, as held in <u>Corbett</u>, the constitutional right to refuse medical treatment cannot be limited by the statute:

> "Therefore, Chapter **765** appears to have been enacted to apply in certain specified situations and was not intended to encompass the entire spectrum of instances in which these privacy rights may be exercised.

> As evidence of that intent, Section **765.15** provides that Chapter **765** is 'cumulative to the existing law...and do[es] not impair any

Ct. 1987); Delio v. Westchester County Medical Center, 129 App.Div.2d 1, 516 N.Y.S.2d 677 (1987); Gray v. Romeo, 697 F.Supp. 580 (D.R.I. 1988); In re Grant, 109 Wash.2d 545, 747 P.2d 445 (1987); cf. Cruzan v. Harmon, 760 S.W. 2d 408 (Mo. 1988), finding no state or federal constitutional right of privacy; and In re O'Connor, 72 N.Y.2d 517, 534 N.Y.S.2d 886 (1988), finding that patient might regain ability to eat without mechanical assistance.

existing rights...a patient...may have...under the common law or statutes of the state.' We must construe section 765.15 to protect all constitutional rights a patient might have or else the statute 3 would be unconstitutional." 487 So.2d at 370.

There is no reported Florida appellate decision which addresses the right of a competent person (or a person in the condition of Mrs. Browning) to remove a feeding tube. While most feeding tube cases from other jurisdictions present incompetent patients, two reported cases involve In re Requena, 517 A.2d 886, presented a competent persons. fifty-five year old woman suffering from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, who was about to lose her natural ability to receive sustenance. Without the introduction of nutrition through artificial means, death would occur in a matter of The court affirmed the right of Ms. Requena to weeks. refuse nasogastric feeding, even though she may live several years being artifically fed. In Bouvia v. Superior Court, 225 Cal. Rptr. 297, a competent twenty-eight year old

-26-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The State further argues that if the amending legislation becomes law, (which, of course, is not now the case), artificial sustenance can only be withdrawn if the patient is "terminal." Yet, the appellate court, despite referring to Mrs. Browning as "not terminal" in the certified question, finds that under the Act, "Mrs. Browning's condition would be terminal if a nasogastric tube were a statutory life-prolonging procedure." 14 F.L.W. at 958 n. 7.

suffering from severe cerebral palsy lost the ability to swallow and thus was unable to take in sustenance. Despite a prognosis of an additional fifteen to twenty years of life with artificial feeding, the court granted the patient's request to remove a nasogastric tube which had previously been inserted against her will.

Mrs. Browning's condition is remarkably similar to that of the patient in <u>In re Conroy</u>, (the court's extensive and detailed description in **486** A.2d at 1217; see  $\triangle$  24). The Supreme Court of New Jersey concluded that, if <u>competent</u>, Ms. Conroy was entitled to removal of the nasogastric tube:

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